STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

MICHAEL ORLANDO BROWN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001677

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

APR 06 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance where counsel failed to contemporaneously object to the admission of Petitioner's alleged statements to law enforcement in which Petitioner allegedly offered to plead guilty to a lesser offense after counsel moved pretrial to suppress the statements pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, since there is a reasonable probability Petitioner would have prevailed on appeal had trial counsel properly preserved the issue for appeal?

2.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance where counsel failed to contemporaneously object to the admission of Petitioner's statements to law enforcement in which Petitioner allegedly admitted the state's DNA evidence would convict him and offered to plead guilty to a lesser offense after counsel moved pretrial to suppress the statements arguing the statements were made after Petitioner had invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and right to counsel, since there is a reasonable probability Petitioner would have prevailed on appeal had trial counsel properly preserved the issue for appeal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state alleged at trial that Petitioner attempted to rob a Chuck E. Cheese in Columbia shortly before it closed on January 3, 2013. An armed black man wearing a brown wig and a red bandana around his neck entered the establishment at 9:38 pm. App. 172, ll. 16-18. While there were no patrons inside at the time of the offense, there were four employees who were preparing to close for the evening. Kadeshia Green and Kyrie Green were breaking down the salad bar. App. 171, ll. 1-10. Ronnie Kennedy-Martin, the manager, was in the back office. App. 174, ll. 11-12. Finally, a woman only identified as Anna was working in the kitchen. App. 171, ll. 11-14; App. 186, ll. 11-12.

Kadeshia, who saw the armed man as he entered the front door, ran to the office and alerted Ronnie. App. 173, l. 21 – 174, l. 10. The man then grabbed Kyrie, put a gun to his back, and told him to walk to the back. App. 190, l. 9 – 192, l. 20; App. 174, ll. 14-24. As the man and Kyrie were walking toward the kitchen, the man demanded Kyrie take him to the money. App. 192, ll. 21-24. However, once the robber saw Ronnie and Kadeshia coming out of the office, he pushed Kyrie to the side, turned, and fled out the front door. App. 193, ll. 3-17

Ronnie called the police. The patrol officer who responded requested the assistance of a K-9 to attempt to track the suspect. The police dog allegedly tracked a scent from the entrance of the Chuck E. Cheese to an area behind the nearby El Toro restaurant, where a wig and bandana were located. App. 156, l. 6 – 159, l. 16. The wig and bandana were both tested for DNA. Though no DNA was found on the wig, Petitioner's DNA was allegedly found as the major contributor on the bandana. App. 300, l. 18 -301, l. 12; App. 305, l. 17 – 306, l. 18.

Despite the presence of two other individuals' DNA on the bandana, Petitioner was arrested on March 14, 2013. App. 304, l. 13 – 305, l. 7; App. 260, ll. 22-23. A Richland County Grand Jury

ultimately indicted Petitioner on April 9, 2014 for attempted armed robbery. App. 708-709. His case was called to trial on August 4, 2014 before the Honorable James R. Barber, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitors Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and Sandra Moser represented the state. App. 1. Anastasia Walker and Alicia Goode represented Petitioner. App. 1.

Petitioner moved pretrial to suppress the oral statement he allegedly made to Investigator Robert Martin shortly after his arrest. Specifically, Petitioner sought to exclude his alleged statements offering to plead guilty to a lesser offense and his alleged statement that “DNA will convict me.” App. 70, l. 23 – 76, l. 23; App. 78, l. 7 – 79, l. 16; App. 93, l. 17 – 100, l. 11.

Investigator Martin claimed during the pretrial hearing that he advised Petitioner of his Miranda rights and, after Martin read each right to Petitioner, Petitioner signed an acknowledgment of rights. App. 58, l. 3 – 60, l. 18. Martin then read the waiver of rights, which Petitioner also signed. App. 60, ll. 19 – 61, l. 24. After he advised Petitioner of his rights, Martin said he discussed with Petitioner “what he was charged with and how he came to that charge, because his DNA was left behind at the scene.” App. 62, ll. 11-15. When asked if he had ever been to the Chuck E. Cheese, Petitioner said he attended a party there in 2011 or 2012, but that he had not been in the area since then. App. 62, ll. 16-20; App. 63, ll. 1-5. Petitioner denied ever having worn a wig and told Martin he could not explain why his DNA would have been found at the scene.¹ App. 62, ll. 21-25.

Martin testified Petitioner refused to provide a DNA sample and said “it [DNA] would convict [me].” App. 63, ll. 6-14. According to Martin, Petitioner “didn’t really deny the evidence.” App. 63, l. 19. Rather, Petitioner allegedly said he would not challenge the DNA and that “he knew

¹ Significantly, Petitioner’s DNA was not found at the scene. Again, it was found on a portable object, the red bandana, that was allegedly used in the attempted robbery.

DNA would be enough to convict him.” App. 63, ll. 19-22. Martin also alleged Petitioner asked if he could be charged with a less serious offense because he “knew that this carried the possibility of life.”² App. 63, l. 23 – 64, l. 1. Martin admitted Petitioner eventually indicated he did not want to talk about his case anymore. He was then allowed to use Martin’s office phone to call his girlfriend, Judy Castro. App. 64, l. 18 – 65, l. 1.

The only recording of the interview was in the form of Martin’s sparse interview notes. App. 65, l. 22 – 67, l. 8. He was not sure how long the interview with Petitioner lasted. App. 65, ll. 13-21; App. 67, l. 20. He was also unable to recall when in the interview he requested Petitioner voluntarily provide a DNA sample, but said it was “either during or at the end.” App. 66, ll. 10-15. When asked about it again, Martin repeated that he “[did not] remember if it was during or at the end or before he [Petitioner] made the phone call.” App. 69, l. 25 – 70, l. 4.

According to Martin, in conjunction with his request to be charged with something less serious, Petitioner “said he wanted a plea in this case.” App. 69, ll. 3-5. This was the only reference Martin made to discussion of a “plea” during his testimony at the suppression hearing. He admitted his notes indicate that when he asked Petitioner for a DNA sample, “he declined until he had spoken to an attorney.” App. 66, ll. 16-22. Martin further admitted his notes did not mention Petitioner’s alleged statement that he would not give his DNA because it would convict him. App. 66, ll. 23-25.

Martin was sitting next to Petitioner when Petitioner called Castro. Martin heard Petitioner’s side of the conversation where he told Castro he did not commit the crime and was being framed. App. 67, ll. 16-17; App. 69, ll. 6-21. Afterward, Martin “attempted to explore that

² Petitioner was indicted for attempted armed robbery, which carries a potential penalty of up to twenty years. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330.

avenue” by asking Petitioner who would frame him, but Petitioner did not give him any information. App. 69, ll. 13-19.

Trial counsel argued Martin was unable to confirm how long the interview was or when in the interview Petitioner declined to give his DNA. This was important because the refusal to give DNA was coupled with a statement that he wanted to speak with an attorney first. Thus, any further questioning of Petitioner was in violation of his right to counsel. App. 70, l. 23 – 71, l. 17. The assistant solicitor argued Investigator Martin testified he stopped the interrogation once Petitioner said he was not going to give a DNA sample until he talked to an attorney. App. 71, l. 18-24.

The trial judge found there was no question Petitioner made a statement. The disagreement is over the content of the statement. App. 71, l. 25 – 72, l. 5. He found the statement was made voluntarily after Petitioner was advised of his rights and made a knowing waiver of those rights. App. 72, ll. 6-16. However, the judge admitted he had some concerns. App. 72, l. 17. He noted that Martin testified Petitioner made a statement “I’m not going to give a DNA sample, because it would convict me.” He found Martin further testified that when Petitioner chose to exercise his right to remain silent, the interview stopped. The judge said he would take that to mean Petitioner first made the statement he was not going to give DNA because it would convict him and then at some point later said I need to talk to an attorney, which is when the questioning stopped.

The judge asked the solicitor if the state was intending to elicit testimony that Petitioner was facing life in prison, which was connected to some of the reasons for the alleged statements. The solicitor said she was not, and the judge responded that he was “not having any of that,” *i.e.* that the jury could not be made aware of the potential life sentence Petitioner faced if convicted. App. 72, l. 17 – 73, l. 10. Additionally, the judge ruled the state was not allowed to reference Petitioner’s refusal to provide a DNA sample. App. 73, l. 10 – 74, l. 19. However, he was “sort of inclined to

maybe” admit the portion of Petitioner’s alleged statement where he said DNA would convict him, even though it was said in combination with his refusal to provide a DNA sample. App. 74, l. 22 – 76, l. 23.

Trial counsel also argued for the exclusion of Petitioner’s alleged offer to plead guilty. The judge initially instructed the state that it was not allowed to elicit the fact that Petitioner offered to plead guilty. App. 78, ll. 7-14. However, the solicitor argued the statement was not a part of any formal plea negotiation between Petitioner’s attorney and the solicitor’s office or in response to any prompting by the investigator. App. 78, l. 15 – 79, l. 1. After the judge indicated he would “think about it,” trial counsel asserted that, in addition to inadmissibility as a part of plea negotiations, the statement was more prejudicial than probative and did not amount to a confession. App. 79, ll. 2-16.

After discussing some other matters, the judge took a brief recess to allow both parties to conduct additional research in support of their positions. App. 93, l. 17 – 94, l. 25. After the break, the solicitor referred the judge to Rule 410(4), SCRE, which prohibits the use of a statement made to a prosecuting attorney during plea negotiations. App. 95, l. 17 – 97, l. 12. When asked what “exactly” Petitioner allegedly said, the solicitor asserted she understood his statement to be, “Can you help me with a plea, I want to plead guilty.” App. 97, ll. 15-19. She said the “gist” of the conversation was “I don’t want to plead guilty to this charge because this charge carries life but if there is something else that doesn’t carry life, I can plead guilty.” App. 97, l. 20 – 98, l. 7. The judge noted that if that were case, then the defendant would be pleading now.³ App. 98, ll. 8-9. Trial counsel clarified that Martin’s notes actually indicate: “Brown [Petitioner] said he was not going to fight the DNA. Brown wanted to know if he could be charged with something less serious. He said he planned on trying to plead to this charge.” App. 98, l. 24 – 99, l. 4. The notes do not

³ The judge was alluding to the state’s offer to recommend a fifteen year sentence. App. 6, l. 3 – 9; l. 15.

contain a direct quotation from Petitioner, but rather Martin's interpretation of what was said. Trial counsel argued that even if Petitioner was mistaken in speaking about a plea with law enforcement rather than the solicitor, the alleged statement should still be excluded. App. 99, ll. 5-9. The judge ruled Petitioner's statement that he planned to plead guilty to the charge was admissible. App. 99, ll. 10-14. He also ruled the statement "DNA will convict me" was admissible, but could not be related to the fact that Petitioner refused to voluntarily provide a DNA sample. App. 100, ll. 5-11.

When Investigator Martin testified before the jury concerning Petitioner's alleged statements, Petitioner's trial counsel failed to contemporaneously object thereby failing to preserve the issues for appellate review. App. 217, l. 15 – 220, l. 8; App. 222, l. 5 – 225, l. 1; App. 226, l. 23 – 227, l. 17.

During her closing argument, the assistant solicitor repeatedly referenced Petitioner's alleged statement "I want to plead guilty" and argued it was direct evidence of his guilt. App. 350, ll. 3-5; App. 351, ll. 6-8; App. 358, ll. 9-10; App. 360, ll. 12-13; App. 361, l. 6. She further argued his statement reflected that "[a]t that point in time he wanted to take responsibility for his actions" and that an innocent man would not make such a statement. App. 358, ll. 16-25. The solicitor also asserted Petitioner's alleged statement that "the DNA alone is enough to convict me" was direct evidence of his guilt. App. 351, ll. 6-8.

On August 5, 2014, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 395, ll. 9-19. He was sentenced to life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. App. 403, ll. 12-16.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Brown, 2016-UP-349 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 6, 2016); App. 504-505. On appeal, Petitioner argued the trial judge abused his discretion in admitting Petitioner's alleged offer to plead guilty where the probative value of the statement was outweighed by unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

He also argued the trial judge abused his discretion in admitting Petitioner's alleged statement that "DNA will convict me" and alleged offer to plead guilty since such statements were made after Petitioner had invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and right to counsel. App. 412. However, the Court of Appeals held these issues were not preserved for appellate review since trial counsel failed to contemporaneously object when the statements were admitted at trial. App. 504-505.

On August 3, 2016, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 508-515. The state filed a return to this application dated June 30, 2017. App. 516-521. An evidentiary hearing was convened on February 19, 2019 before the Honorable Kristi Curtis. App. 522. Assistant Attorney General Lindsey McAllister represented the state, and Leah Moody represented Petitioner. App. 522.

During the evidentiary hearing, Anastasia Walker, Petitioner's trial counsel, admitted she failed to contemporaneously object when Petitioner's alleged statements were admitted before the jury during Investigator Martin's testimony. She testified that she did not realize her mistake until the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion asserting the arguments raised on appeal were not preserved. App. 121, ll. 16-23. Walker asserted it was "complete neglect on [her] part" for failing to object when the statements were admitted. Unfortunately, at the time, she "had not thought" to object. App. 643, ll. 1-5.

By order filed September 4, 2019, the PCR judge denied Petitioner relief. App. 682-707. While the judge found trial counsel was deficient for failing to contemporaneously object when the state presented Petitioner's alleged statements through Investigator Martin during trial thereby failing to preserve the issue for appellate review, he concluded Petitioner failed to prove prejudice because he would not have prevailed on appeal if counsel had properly objected.

The PCR judge concluded Petitioner was advised of his Miranda rights both orally and in writing before he was questioned by Investigator Martin and voluntarily waived his rights. Consequently, the PCR judge found Petitioner's alleged statement that he knew the DNA evidence would convict him was admissible as evidence of consciousness of guilt and the trial judge properly admitted the statement. App. 697. As to Petitioner's alleged statements offering to plead guilty to a lesser offense, the PCR judge likewise concluded they were properly admitted at trial as evidence of consciousness of guilt since. App. 697. The judge asserted the statements were not excluded by Rule 410, SCRE, since the statements were made to a police officer and not to a prosecuting attorney during plea negotiations. App. 697. He further found the statements were made "unprompted by law enforcement" after Petitioner had been advised of his Miranda rights. App. 697. Because the PCR judge determined the trial judge's decision to admit the statements was proper, he found Petitioner was not reasonably likely to prevail on appeal even if the issues had been preserved for appellate review. App. 697-698.

Because trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner since he would have prevailed on appeal had counsel contemporaneously objected to the admission of Petitioner's alleged statements thereby preserving the issues for appellate review, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR judge erred by finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance where counsel failed to contemporaneously object to the admission of Petitioner's alleged statements to law enforcement in which Petitioner allegedly offered to plead guilty to a lesser offense after counsel moved pretrial to suppress the statements pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, since there is a reasonable probability Petitioner would have prevailed on appeal had trial counsel properly preserved the issue for appeal.

While the PCR judge properly found trial counsel was deficient for failing to contemporaneously object to the admission of Petitioner's alleged statements offering to plead guilty to a lesser offense, he erred by concluding Petitioner failed to prove prejudice. If counsel had properly preserved the argument that the probative value of Petitioner's statements offering to plead guilty was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, there is a reasonable probability he would have prevailed on appeal and the Court of Appeals would have reversed his conviction.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient" and fell below reasonable

professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

"This Court has previously held that an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a PCR claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel." McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003) and Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). In McHam, this Court found McHam's trial counsel's failure to renew his Fourth Amendment objection constituted deficient performance that satisfied the first prong of the Strickland analysis. Id. at 474, 746 S.E.2d at 46. Consequently, the PCR judge properly found trial counsel was deficient for failing to renew her objection to the admission of Petitioner's statements.

Since the issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong. See McHam, 404 S.C. at 475, 746 S.E.2d at 47; Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) ("When the defendant claims that counsel's failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is meritorious and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.").

Plea negotiations occur in almost every criminal case. They benefit both the defendant and the state. However, as occurred in Petitioner's case, there are occasions where a defendant chooses to invoke his constitutional right to a jury trial and require the state to prove its case against him.

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