RECEIVED

Sep 09 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Richland County

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
The Honorable James R. Barber, III, Trial Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001677

Michael Orlando Brown, #295408,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #79054

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court correctly found Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing preserve her objection to the admission of Petitioner's statements to law enforcement in which Petitioner inquired about pleading guilty to a lesser offense because the statements were properly admitted, and therefore, Petitioner cannot meet his burden as to prejudice.

Petitioner contends Counsel was ineffective for failing preserve her objection to the admission of Petitioner's statements to law enforcement in which Petitioner inquired about pleading guilty to a lesser offense. Counsel raised the issue in a pretrial hearing, but, after the trial judge ruled the statement was admissible, Counsel then failed to contemporaneously object when the testimony was presented to the jury. App. pp. 78-79, 95-99, 219-20. The Court of Appeals therefore found the issue was not preserved for appellate review. State v. Brown, Op. No. 2016-UP-349 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 6, 2016). Accordingly, the PCR court found Counsel was deficient for failing to preserve the issue. App. p. 696. However, the PCR court ultimately denied relief, finding Petitioner had failed to prove he was prejudiced by the admission of the challenged testimony because the statements were properly admitted, and therefore, there was no reasonable probability Petitioner would have prevailed on appeal. App. pp. 696-98. Because the PCR court correctly determined Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's deficiency and denied relief, this Court should likewise deny certiorari.

A. Petitioner's argument is not preserved because it was not raised to the PCR court.

As an initial matter, Petitioner's argument on this issue is itself not preserved for appellate review. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified he never made a statement to law enforcement at all, and *that* was the objection he wanted Counsel to make and preserve for appeal, not the Fifth Amendment or Rule 410 issue. App. pp. 533-35, 606-07. However, the Order of Dismissal states:

The testimony presented at trial showed [Petitioner] was Mirandized orally and in writing prior to being asked if he would give a DNA sample. This Court finds [Petitioner's] response that he would not submit to DNA testing because he knew the DNA evidence would convict him clearly evinces consciousness of guilt, which is the same rationale relied upon by the trial (sic) court, and the statement was properly admitted at trial. Additionally, this Court finds Applicant's statement offering to plead guilty to a lesser charge was properly admitted for the same reason. . . .

App. p. 697. Essentially, the PCR court found Petitioner *did* make the two statements, and the statements were properly admitted because they were voluntary and relevant to the issue of Petitioner's consciousness of guilt. Petitioner never asked the PCR court to rule on whether Counsel was deficient in failing to preserve the Rule 410 or Fifth Amendment objections, either at the evidentiary hearing or by way of a post-hearing motion. Thus, Petitioner has waived his right to assert ineffective assistance of counsel on the ground Counsel failed to preserve the Rule 410 or Fifth Amendment issue. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal."); Cowburn v. Leventis, 366 S.C. 20, 619 S.E.2d 437 (Ct. App. 2005) ("When a trial court makes a general ruling on an issue, but does not address the specific argument raised by a party, that party must make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the trial court to rule on the issue in order to preserve it for appeal.").

B. Even if the argument is preserved, Petitioner cannot prove prejudice because he was not reasonably likely to prevail on direct appeal.

In any event, Petitioner was not reasonably likely to prevail on appeal as to the Rule 410 issue, so the PCR court correctly found he did not meet his burden of proving prejudice. At trial, Investigator Robert Martin testified about his interview of Petitioner after Petitioner's arrest. Martin testified he read the advisement of rights form containing the standard Miranda⁵ warnings to Petitioner aloud, determined Petitioner understood the warnings, and both he and Petitioner

⁵ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

signed the acknowledgment form indicating Petitioner wished to waive his right to remain silent. App. pp. 212-17. Martin testified Petitioner stated he had not been to that Chuck E. Cheese or even in the general area since 2011. App. p. 222. Martin explained he asked Petitioner if he had ever worn a wig, which Petitioner denied, and when Martin asked why Petitioner's DNA would be at the crime scene, Petitioner could not offer any explanation. App. p. 222. According to Martin, in the course of this discussion about Petitioner's DNA, Petitioner never denied involvement in the robbery and instead said, "[h]e wasn't going to challenge the DNA. . . . He wanted to be charged with something lesser if he could. He knew the DNA would convict him. . . . [H]e wanted a less severe charge, and he wanted to discuss a plea." App. pp. 218-19. Martin then explained to Petitioner "it would be between [Petitioner's] attorneys and the Solicitor's Office to make any kind of plea agreement," but Martin was not "at liberty to make those kind of offers." App. p. 219. Martin further testified Petitioner said "he wanted to plead guilty" spontaneously after being confronted with the evidence against him. App. p. 219. Martin emphasized Petitioner "wasn't making any denials that he was involved in this. . . . He wanted to see if he could negotiate some kind of plea or get a plea negotiated on his behalf." App. pp. 219-20.

At trial, the State argued, and the trial court agreed, Rule 410(4), SCRE, only applies to keep out a statement made to a prosecuting attorney during plea negotiations, and since Petitioner's statement was made to law enforcement during an interrogation, Rule 410 was inapplicable in this situation.⁶ Counsel objected to the admission of Petitioner's statement that the DNA would convict him as well as his statement that he wanted to plead guilty during the pretrial Jackson v. Denno,

⁶ Statements "made in the course of plea discussions with *an attorney for the prosecuting authority* which do not result in a plea of guilty or which result in a plea of guilty later withdrawn" are inadmissible. Rule 410(4), SCRE (emphasis added).

378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing. Counsel based her objection on Rule 410(4), SCRE.⁷ However, Counsel did not renew her objection when the testimony was presented in front of the jury, rendering the issue unpreserved for direct appellate review. App. pp. 78, 99, 218-20.

This Court has previously held an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a post-conviction relief claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003); Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). However, to be entitled to relief on such a claim, an applicant must establish the underlying claim is meritorious and would have resulted in a reversal on appeal to a reasonable probability. McHam, 404 S.C. at 475-76, 746 S.E.2d at 47 (“Since the Fourth Amendment issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong in McHam’s PCR claim.” (citing Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“When the defendant claims that counsel’s failure to articulate a... claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is **meritorious** and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.” (emphasis in McHam))).

The PCR court found Petitioner was not reasonably likely to prevail on direct appeal because Petitioner’s statement “offering” to plead guilty to a lesser charge was properly admitted because it was an acknowledgment of guilt and was not made in the course of a plea negotiation. App. pp. 696-98. The PCR court therefore correctly found Petitioner suffered no prejudice due to

⁷ Although Counsel did not specifically cite the rule, she characterized the statement as “an offer to plead guilty,” which she argued “shouldn’t be admissible” because it was an “attempt[] to enter into some sort of negotiation.” App. pp. 78, 99. Counsel also argued against admission based on the “prejudicial and probative value” of the statement which she argued was not “a confession.” App. p. 78.

Counsel's missed objection. App. p. 696.

Petitioner now relies primarily on the holding of United States v. Robertson, 582 F.2d 1356 (5th Cir. 1978), to argue Rule 410(4), SCRE,⁸ requires the exclusion of Petitioner's statement to Martin that he wanted to plead guilty to a lesser charge. The discussion and interpretation of Rule 410 in Robertson, though, is based on the pre-1979 version of the rule, which was substantially broader than its current form. Critically to Petitioner's case, the rule was amended to narrow the scope of statements deemed inadmissible specifically because of decisions like Robertson which were being used to keep out more evidence than was originally intended by Congress. See, e.g., United States v. Marks, 209 F.3d 577, 582 (6th Cir. 2000) ("Defendants rely on United States v. Brooks and United States v. Herman for the proposition that statements made to law enforcement officers pursuant to a plea agreement then in effect are statements 'made in the course of plea discussions.' Their reliance is misplaced. Congress amended Rule 11(e)(6) in 1979; it did so in part to abrogate decisions such as Brooks and Herman, because they manifested what Congress thought was a too-broad view of the plea negotiation process.").

As the Notes to the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure⁹ explain, "This change, it must be emphasized, does not compel the conclusion that statements made to law enforcement agents, especially when the agents purport to have authority to bargain, are inevitably admissible. Rather, the point is that such cases... must be resolved by that body of law dealing with police interrogations." Fed. R. Crim. P. 11 advisory committee's note on 1979 Amendments to

⁸ South Carolina's Rule 410(4), "is identical to the federal rule." Rule 410, SCRE.

⁹ The Notes to Federal Rule of Evidence 410 explicitly direct the reader to the amendments to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(e)(6) for an explanation of the changes to Rule 410. See Fed. R. Evid. 410 advisory committee's note on 1979 Amendments ("A proposed amendment to rule 11(e)(6) would clarify the circumstances in which pleas, plea discussions and related statements are inadmissible in evidence: see Advisory Committee Note thereto. The amendment proposed above would make comparable changes in rule 410.").

subdivision (e)(6). In fact, as the Notes go on to point out, “these statements are sometimes admitted in court against the defendant.” Id. Clearly, then, the current version of both the federal and South Carolina Rule 410, enacted after Robertson was decided, specifically contemplate that statements regarding plea negotiations made to *law enforcement* are generally admissible, assuming the traditional voluntariness factors are met. As Robertson itself acknowledged, “[S]urely not every discussion between an accused and agents for the government is a plea negotiation.” 582 F.2d at 1365. “[T]he cooperation of an arrested person often is prompted by a desire for leniency for himself or others. Statements or confessions made in such circumstances, if they are voluntary and made with full awareness of the person’s rights, are reliable, probative and constitutionally admissible evidence.” Id. at 1368.

In Petitioner’s case, the trial court properly admitted the statement because it correctly determined it was made voluntarily and not excluded by the plain language of Rule 410, SCRE. The statement was made to a police officer, not the solicitor, nor was it made during a plea negotiation. Although Petitioner indicated his seeming willingness to engage in a plea negotiation, in the context of the entire conversation, Petitioner’s statement was not made *during* any such negotiations; it was made during an interview about his involvement in the crime and immediately after Petitioner was informed of DNA evidence linking him to the scene. Additionally, the testimony at trial showed the statement was made unprompted by law enforcement, after Miranda warnings had been given to Petitioner. In this context, the trial court correctly found this “offer” to plead guilty was actually an admission of consciousness of guilt. See State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671 (Ct. App. 2005) (finding statements defendant made to police were not barred by Rule 410, SCRE, in prosecution for murder where discussions between defendant, solicitor, and investigators were not in furtherance of defendant making a plea on the murder charge).

Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's omission because he was not reasonably likely to have succeeded on appeal. Thus, the PCR court correctly determined Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel and denied relief. This Court should likewise deny certiorari.

II. The PCR court correctly found Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to preserve her objection to the admission of Petitioner's statements to law enforcement on Fifth Amendment grounds because Petitioner cannot meet his burden of proving prejudice where the first alleged invocation was not made in response to an interrogation and where the second alleged invocation was ambiguous.

Petitioner additionally contends Counsel was ineffective for failing preserve her objection to the admission of Petitioner's statements to law enforcement in inquiring about pleading guilty to a lesser offense and acknowledging DNA would convict him on the basis that the statements were made after Petitioner allegedly invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and requested counsel.¹⁰ Counsel again briefly argued the issue pretrial, but, after the trial judge ruled the statements were admissible, Counsel failed to contemporaneously object when the testimony was presented to the jury. App. pp. 70-76, 218-19. The Court of Appeals therefore found the issue was not preserved for appellate review. State v. Brown, Op. No. 2016-UP-349

¹⁰ Notably, Counsel never objected to the admission of this statement regarding the DNA sample on *Fifth* Amendment grounds. App. p. 71. Rather, she objected on *Sixth* Amendment grounds, which, even if preserved at trial, would not have been a meritorious issue for direct appeal as the Sixth Amendment right to counsel does not attach until indictment. See State v. Register, 323 S.C. 471, 4776 (1996) ("Sixth Amendment right does not attach simply because the defendant has been arrested or because the investigation has focused on him. . . . Further, the Sixth Amendment right attaches only 'post-indictment,' at least in the questioning/statement setting." (internal citations omitted)). In this case, the alleged invocation occurred when Martin questioned Petitioner on the day of Petitioner's arrest, well before Petitioner was indicted or made his first appearance before a judge. Petitioner's allegation at PCR was only that she failed to preserve her objection(s), not that she made an incorrect objection. App. p. 685. Regardless, Petitioner has also waived his argument Counsel was deficient for failing to make or preserve a Fifth Amendment argument as to this statement for the same reasons discussed in Section I(A), *supra*.

(S.C. Ct. App. filed July 6, 2016). Accordingly, the PCR court found Counsel was deficient for failing to preserve her objections to the statements about the DNA sample. App. p. 696. However, the PCR court ultimately denied relief, finding Petitioner had failed to prove he was prejudiced by the admission of the challenged testimony because the statements were properly admitted, and there was no reasonable probability Petitioner would have prevailed on appeal. App. p. 696-98. Because the PCR court correctly determined Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's deficiency and denied relief, this Court should likewise deny certiorari.

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